
 

 

Agenda - Finance Committee 
Meeting Venue: Hybrid - Committee 

room 4 Ty Hywel and video conference 

via Zoom 

Meeting date: 13 March 2024 

Meeting time: 09.30

For further information contact: 

Owain Roberts 

Committee Clerk 

0300 200 6388  

SeneddFinance@senedd.wales
------ 

Registration  

(09.00-09.15) 

Private Pre-meeting  

(09.15-09.30) 

1 Introductions, apologies, substitutions and declarations of 

interest 

(09.30)   

2 Paper(s) to note 

(09.30)   

2.1 PTN 1 - Scrutiny of the Welsh Government Draft Budget 2024-25: Welsh 

Government's response to the Finance Committee's report - 1 March 2024 

 (Pages 1 - 24)  

2.2 PTN 2 - Letter from the Counsel General and Minister for the Constitution: 

Senedd Cymru (Members and Elections) Bill - 4 March 2024 

 (Pages 25 - 29)  

2.3 PTN 3 - Letter from Counsel General and Minister for the Constitution: Inter-

Institutional Relations Agreement - Inter-Ministerial Standing Committee - 5 

March 2024 

 (Page 30)  

2.4 PTN 4 - Letter from the Minister for Finance and Local Government: Welsh 

Tax Acts etc. (Power to Modify) Act 2022 - 6 March 2024 

 (Pages 31 - 32)  

------------------------ Public Document Pack ------------------------



 

 

3 Fiscal Intergovernmental Relations: Evidence session 1 

(09.30-10.10) (Pages 33 - 51)  

Philip Rycroft, Member of the Independent Commission on the Constitutional 

Future of Wales 

 

Supporting documents: 

FIN(6)-08-24 P1 – Consultation response: Dr Paul Anderson 

Senedd Research Brief 

4 Motion under Standing Order 17.42 (ix) to resolve to exclude the 

public from the remainder of this meeting 

(10.10)   

5 Fiscal Intergovernmental Relations: Consideration of evidence 

(10.10-10.20)   

6 Financial implications of the Residential Outdoor Education 

(Wales) Bill: Consideration of draft report 

(10.20-10.35) (Pages 52 - 75)  

Supporting documents: 

FIN(6)-08-24 P2 – Draft report 

7 Financial implications of the Senedd Cymru (Electoral Candidate 

Lists) (Wales) Bill 

(10.35-10.50)   

Supporting documents: 

FIN(6)-08-24 P3 – Scoping paper (To be included in a supplementary pack) 

8 Consideration of Forward Work Programme 

(10.50-11.05) (Pages 76 - 85)  

Supporting documents: 

FIN(6)-08-24 P4 - Forward Work Programme 



 

 

9 Scrutiny of the Welsh Government Draft Budget 2025-26: 

Approach to engagement 

(11.05-11.20) (Pages 86 - 88)  

Supporting documents: 

FIN(6)-08-24 P5 - Approach to engagement 



Rebecca Evans AS/MS 
Y Gweinidog Cyllid a Llywodraeth Leol  
Minister for Finance and Local Government 

Bae Caerdydd • Cardiff Bay 
Caerdydd • Cardiff 

CF99 1SN 

Canolfan Cyswllt Cyntaf / First Point of Contact Centre: 
0300 0604400 

Correspondence.Rebecca.Evans@gov.wales 
Gohebiaeth.Rebecca.Evans@llyw.cymru 

Rydym yn croesawu derbyn gohebiaeth yn Gymraeg.  Byddwn yn ateb gohebiaeth a dderbynnir yn Gymraeg yn Gymraeg ac ni fydd 
gohebu yn Gymraeg yn arwain at oedi.  

We welcome receiving correspondence in Welsh.  Any correspondence received in Welsh will be answered in Welsh and corresponding 
in Welsh will not lead to a delay in responding.   

Ein cyf/Our ref MA-RE-0674-24 

Peredur Owen Griffiths MS 
Chair, Finance Committee  
Senedd Cymru 
Cardiff  
CF99 1NA  

SeneddFinance@senedd.wales 
01 March 2024 

Dear Peredur, 

I am pleased to enclose at Annex A the Government’s response to the recommendations 
contained in the Finance Committee’s report on its scrutiny of the Draft Budget 2024-25.  

Yours sincerely, 

Rebecca Evans MS/AS  
Y Gweinidog Cyllid a Llywodraeth Leol 
Minister for Finance and Local Government 

Pwyllgor Cyllid / Finance Committee
FIN(6)-08-24 PTN 1 

Pack Page 1

Agenda Item 2.1

mailto:Correspondence.Rebecca.Evans@gov.wales
mailto:Gohebiaeth.Rebecca.Evans@llyw.cymru
mailto:SeneddFinance@senedd.wales


Finance Committee’s Recommendations on the Draft Budget 
 
The responses to the Committee’s recommendations have been provided by the 
appropriate portfolio Minister. Recommendations 1-22 have been answered by the 
Minister for Finance and Local Government, while the remaining responses fall to 
other Ministers. 
 
Recommendations 23, and 25-30 – by the Minister for Health and Social Services 
Recommendation 24 – jointly by the Minister for Health and Social Services and the 
Minister for Education 
Recommendation 31, and 38-39 – by the Minister for Climate Change 
Recommendations 32-33– by the Minister for Social Justice 
Recommendation 34-35, and 37 – by the Minister for Education 
Recommendation 36 – by the Deputy Minister for Social Services 
 
 
Budget Process 
 
Recommendation 1. The Committee recommends that the Minister publishes 
ministerial evidence papers at the same time as the Draft Budget in order to provide 
clarity on the criteria and priorities behind ministerial decisions, with the aim of 
enabling stakeholders to engage in the scrutiny process more effectively and at an 
earlier stage. 
 
Response: Accept in Principle 
 
The practice agreed between the Welsh Government and Senedd Committees has 
been for English versions of the evidence papers to be provided as soon as possible 
after the Draft Budget has been published. Welsh versions are provided as soon as 
they have been translated, which is always in advance of the respective Minister’s 
appearance at a Budget scrutiny committee.  
 
Translating the 120,000 words in the evidence papers for the 2024-25 Draft Budget 
to respond to the committees’ specific requests for information is no small feat and 
could not possibly be completed in time to publish the evidence papers at the same 
time as the other Draft Budget documentation. Nor would it be permissible for the 
Welsh Government to publish only English versions of the evidence papers 
alongside the Draft Budget because doing so would be a breach of its own Welsh 
Language Measure 2011. 
 
Recommendation 2. The Committee recommends that, if the Draft Budget is 
delayed again in future years:  
 

▪     the Minister and officials continue to attend a pre-scrutiny session with the 
Finance Committee; and  

▪     the Minster works with the Finance Committee to identify approaches that 
can enhance scrutiny opportunities, including providing documentation 
relating to the Draft Budget at an earlier stage. 

 
Response: Accept in Principle 

Pack Page 2



 
The Minister for Finance and Local Government has assured Finance Committee 

that she is willing to continue to attend a pre-Budget scrutiny session with her 

officials, as has been the case with recent budget preparations. As part of the 

preparation phase of the budget setting process, each year, the Minister attends 

Finance Committee with the Chief Economist as part of her commitment to increase 

engagement. The Minister also supports the Finance Committee-led debate on 

Budget priorities, which has become a feature of our Budget preparations, in recent 

years. We intend to continue to maintain this engagement for future Budget rounds.  

  

Similarly, the Minister has committed to continuing to work with the Finance 
Committee to consider proposed changes to our Budget Business Protocol, which 
shapes the processes included within the annual Budget cycle. 
 
However, as the Minister explained when she attended the Finance Committee 
during Budget scrutiny in January, it would not be sensible to provide the Budget 
documentation at an earlier stage due to the information being either unavailable, or 
out of date and, therefore, unreliable by the time the Draft Budget is published.   
 
 
Welsh Government In-Year Savings Exercise 2023-24 
 
Recommendation 4. The Committee recommends that the Minister publishes 
information about how and why different indices are used by the Welsh Government 
to measure the impact of inflation on its spending position alongside budgets and 
supplementary budgets, if the Welsh Government is making in-year allocations due 
to inflationary pressures, to ensure clarity on changes to real terms funding it faces.  
 
Response: Accept 
 
If the Welsh Government is making in-year allocations due to inflationary pressures, 
it will publish supporting information to explain those allocations - including the 
metrics used to assess inflationary pressures. 
 
Recommendation 5. The Committee recommends that the Minister provides 
information about the impact of inflation on the Welsh Government’s budget at 
regular intervals during the year, in addition to the information already provided at the 
final budget and supplementary budget stage, to enable the Senedd to scrutinise any 
decisions taken by Welsh Ministers to mitigate such pressures.  
 
Response: Accept in Principle 
 
The information provided alongside Welsh Government budgets includes the 
expected impact of inflation via the tables showing real terms growth estimates. 
Recent budgets have also included information on the impact of higher-than-
expected inflation since the last UK Government spending review in 2021. The letter 
provided to the Finance Committee before the Summer Recess on fiscal prospects 
also includes an update on inflationary expectations. If there are any budgetary 

Pack Page 3



changes arising from inflationary impacts, which are outside normal budget events, 
these will be fully explained.  
 
Recommendation 6. The Committee recommends that the Welsh Government 
brings forward its supplementary budget when making significant in-year changes in 
future outside of the usual supplementary budget timescales, to enhance 
transparency and to ensure that the Senedd has a final say on such spending 
decisions.  
 
Response: Reject 
 
The Budget Protocol agreed by the Finance Committee and the Welsh Government 
sets out the commitment to publish two supplementary budgets each year.   
 
Supplementary budgets are not just about spending plans, but the level of resources 
received. They are the formal mechanism to agree the Government’s spending plans 
and regularise the financing of spending through funding received from the UK 
Government and devolved taxes. Only when all of that information is available is it 
appropriate to bring forward a supplementary budget.  
 
Consideration is given to the timing of each supplementary budget to ensure it reflects 
changes to budgets as a result of decisions made by the Welsh Government, and also 
to capture changes that arise as a result of decisions by the UK Government.  
 
For that reason, we attempt to align the timing of our supplementary budgets to the 
UK Government Main and Supplementary Estimates to allow the Senedd to scrutinise 
both the level of resources as well as proposals for their deployment.  
 
The first supplementary budget of a financial year is normally published following the 
conclusion of the UK Government’s Main Estimate; this may also confirm changes 
arising from the UK Government’s Spring Statement in March which were notified at 
too late a stage to include in the Welsh Government’s Final Budget. 
 
The second supplementary budget is normally published following the conclusion of 
the UK Government’s Supplementary Estimate.  Because this supplementary budget 
is the last opportunity during the financial year to regularise changes because of UK 
Government decisions, the timing is critical to ensure spending proposals approved 
by the Senedd include those changes.  The UK Supplementary Estimate is usually 
concluded in early February.  
 
Allocative decisions, either from the Welsh Government reserve or reprioritised within 
MEGs to address emerging pressures, can be made in advance of a supplementary 
budget, and regularised in a forthcoming supplementary budget.     
 
An additional supplementary budget was brought forward during the first year of the 
Covid pandemic in light of the exceptional additional funds announced by the UK 
Government in the middle of that year.  
 
 

Pack Page 4



Recommendation 7. The Committee recommends that the Minister calls for 
maximum flexibility within the Fiscal Framework to remove the annual Wales 
Reserve drawdown limits and increasing the size of both borrowing limits and the 
Wales Reserve, at least in line with inflation, given that the real terms value of these 
limits have been eroded in recent years.  
 
Response:Accept 
 
Welsh Government Ministers continue to make representations to the UK 
Government for additional fiscal flexibilities through the appropriate channels, 
including the Finance: Inter-ministerial Standing Committee (F:ISC) and through 
bilateral meetings with the Chief Secretary to the Treasury.  
 
Most recently the Minister for Finance and Local Government made the case in a 
letter to the Chancellor [6 February], and during a meeting with the Chief Secretary 
to the Treasury [25 January]. 
 
The fiscal levers currently available to the Welsh Government limit our ability to 
respond quickly to emerging needs, leaving us dependent on decisions made by the 
UK Government and exposed to the impact of the timing of those decisions.  
 
Next year (2024-25) our borrowing and reserve limits will be worth 23% less in real 
terms than when they were introduced in 2018-19. We have repeatedly made the 
case for our borrowing and reserve limits to be indexed to inflation and for the limits 
on our Reserve drawdown to be abolished. These flexibilities were provided to the 
Scottish Government last August and are equally applicable to Wales where high 
inflation has eroded our budget and budget flexibilities. 
 
In addition, the level of capital borrowing flexibility offered by the UK Government to 
Northern Ireland to support the restoration of the Executive starkly contrasts with the 
absence of an increase to the Welsh Government’s borrowing limits. The Welsh 
Government’s capital budget in 2024-25 is worth 10% less in real terms than when it 
was set by the UK Government in the 2021 Spending Review. 
 
Fairness and consistency must be applied in the operation of the UK funding 
arrangements across all parts of the UK. The Finance Committee’s continued 
support on this issue is appreciated.  
 
Budget Narrative and Presentation 
 
Recommendation 8. The Committee recommends that the Minister explores 
publishing information at regular intervals throughout the year to provide an overview 
of how the Welsh Government is progressing against its spending profiles, to 
understand the real time impact of in-year changes on departmental budgets.  
 
Response: Accept in Principle  
  
We already outline substantive information throughout the financial year through our 
Draft, Final and Supplementary Budget publications. We report the monitoring and 
delivery of outcomes through the Programme for Government report. In addition, 

Pack Page 5



throughout the year we publish a range of information through our website on the 
monitoring and outcomes of policy areas. We are happy to consider improvements 
through our work on the Budget Improvement Plan, recognising that such changes 
must be proportionate and should also be considered through any changes to the 
Budget Protocol.  
 
Recommendation 9. The Committee recommends that the Minister provides further 
information about where funding is being re-prioritised in the Draft Budget, including:  
 

▪ details of all the non-devolved areas, which the Welsh Government believes 
   the UK Government should be funding; and  
▪ an explanation of why demand is less in certain areas and the budgetary 
  impact of this 

 
Response: Accept in Principle 
 
Much of information the Committee is requesting is contained within the Ministerial 
evidence papers provided to support the decisions behind the budgetary process.  
 
As we have come to the end of this multi-year period, there is an opportunity to 
review whether the information provided is suitable for the Committee’s needs, 
however we would consider this should be done formally and in accordance with 
changes to the Budget Protocol.  
 
Recommendation 10. The Committee recommends that the Welsh Government 
provides a further analysis of the impact of its budget on areas that may be 
considered preventative in nature. 
 
Response: Accept in Principle 
 
We provide a substantial amount of information relating to preventative spending 
measures in our spending plans, and remain committed to improving how we embed 
and demonstrate prevention within our Budget documentation. We will consider 
whether further changes are necessary as part of our review of the Strategic 
Integrated Impact Assessment and the wider work on the Budget Improvement Plan.  
 
Prevention is not just about the quantum of funding it is also about the way funding is 
spent. Defining the outcomes of spending from a prevention perspective is complex, 
particularly where there are multiple beneficiaries of spending and therefore 
potentially multiple different types of prevention occurring within a single investment. 
 
Recommendation 11. The Committee recommends that the Minister provides 
information on how the prevention pilot will be applied across the Welsh 
Government’s budget, and works alongside key stakeholders, to provide meaningful 
data to identify the trend in prevention across years.  
 
Response: Accept 
 

Pack Page 6



Through the work on the Budget Improvement Plan we will outline updates on our 
approach to embedding prevention within our budgeting process at the appropriate 
time. As we have outlined this is a complex and longer-term area of work. 
 
Recommendation 12. The Committee recommends that the Minister includes 
information in Strategic Integrated Impact Assessments from now on to explain how 
the Welsh Government considers the five ways of working within the Wellbeing of 
Future Generations (Wales) Act 2015 when making budgetary decisions.  
 
Response: Accept 
 
We provided details of how the five ways of working have been considered within our 
2024-25 Draft Budget, as shown in our Strategic Integrated Impact Assessment 
published as part of our 2024-25 Draft Budget. As part of our work on the Budget 
Improvement Plan, including the review of the Strategic Integrated Impact 
Assessment, we are happy to consider further improvements to how we demonstrate 
the five ways of working have been considered in our budgetary decisions. 
 
 
Recommendation 13. The Committee recommends that the Minister provides 
details of the review it will undertake of both its Budget Improvement Plan and 
Strategic Integrated Impact Assessment, including the membership of the Budget 
Improvement and Impact Advisory Group, the terms of reference of the review, 
details of any consultations undertaken and related timescales.  
 
Response: Accept 
 
While we have not committed to undertaking a review of the Budget Improvement 
Plan, as part of the Plan’s design we continuously consider how we can improve 
budget and tax processes; this is set out  in each annual update of the plan. 
 
With regard to the review of the Strategic Integrated Impact Assessment, as this 
review is at a formative stage, we will provide further information at the appropriate 
time. 
 
The membership of the Budget Improvement and Impact Advisory Group is already 
published and available on our website at:  
Budget Improvement and Impact Advisory Group | GOV.WALES 
 
Recommendation 14. The Committee recommends that the Minister publishes the 
remaining two gender budget pilots and works in collaboration with the Wales 
Women’s Budget Group / Women’s Equality Network to mainstream gender 
budgeting across the Welsh Government. 
 
Response: Accept 
 
We are happy to work with the Women’s Budget Group and Women’s Equality 
Network on how we can further embed gender budgeting. The Women’s Equality 
Network is already a valued member of our Budget Improvement and Impact 
Advisory Group. 

Pack Page 7

https://www.gov.wales/budget-improvement-and-impact-advisory-group


 
As we have outlined previously, our work on gender budgeting, including the pilots, is 
representative of systemic and cultural change. We are learning from world leaders, 
such as the Icelandic government, who told us it took at least 7 years to embed the 
changes from pilots to implementation. From engaging with other world leaders, 
such as Canada, any approach needs to be proportionate and relevant to the impact 
it is seeking to achieve. 
 
We have already provided updates within our Budget Improvement Plan and 
continue to learn from our three existing gender budgeting pilots, working 
collaboratively across the areas to share the ongoing learning and to inform how this 
work can be further embedded and expanded. 
 
 
Fiscal Levers 
 
Recommendation 15. The Committee recommends that the Minister commits to 
monitoring trends in the size of block grant adjustments over time and uses such 
data to consider whether changes to the process for making reconciliations through 
block grant adjustments could be made, to enable quicker access by the Welsh 
Government to any increases in its funding.  
 
Response: Accept 
 
The process for reconciling forecasting errors relating to block grant adjustments and 
Welsh Rates of Income Tax revenues will be monitored and kept under review. It 
should be noted that while we have seen positive amounts in the first two years of 
WRIT reconciliations, we would not expect that pattern to continue, given that the 
OBR’s forecasts are central. Over time, there shouldn’t be any particular budgetary 
advantage to bringing forward interim reconciliation amounts. 
 
Recommendation 16. The Committee recommends that the Minister works with the 
Office for Budget Responsibility and the Welsh Revenue Authority to ensure that its 
processes for collecting and sharing public non-compliance data relating to Landfill 
Disposals Tax is fit for purpose and provides assurances that problems in this area 
will not persist.  
 
Response: Accept. 
 
We will continue to work in partnership with the Welsh Revenue Authority (WRA) and 
the Office for Budget Responsibility on the collection and use of non-compliance 
data relating to Landfill Disposals Tax to ensure it is fit for purpose. The WRA works 
with a range of partners, including Natural Resources Wales, to gather data on 
instances where additional tax may be chargeable both at landfill sites and on 
unauthorised disposals of waste. The OBR’s forecasts are based on the most up to 
date and comprehensive information available, whilst adhering to the WRA's 
requirement to keep protected taxpayer information confidential. 
 
 
 

Pack Page 8



Recommendation 17. The Committee recommends that the Minister provides an 
update by the summer recess on discussions held with the Scottish Government, 
Scottish Fiscal Commission, the Office for Budget Responsibility and HMRC 
regarding data and analytical developments relating to taxation across the UK, and 
to provide an assessment of whether there is scope for the Welsh Government’s 
current taxation powers to be enhanced in light of any discussions held.  
 
Response: Accept  

 

The Minister for Finance and Local Government is committed to keeping the 

Committee updated on analytical work related to income tax undertaken by Welsh 

Government in partnership with HMRC, the Office for Budget Responsibility, Scottish 

Government, and Scottish Fiscal Commission. The analytical work will inform the 

Government’s ongoing considerations on seeking any future enhancements to its 

current taxation powers. 

 
Recommendation 18. The Committee recommends that the Minister provides 
information on the capital plans that the Welsh Government will deliver in 2024- 25 in 
its final budget documentation, including details of projects that have been 
reprioritised, scaled back or reprofiled across a number of years in light of budgetary 
constraints in this area.  
 
Response: Accept 
 
The Investment Area Mapping Tables were published as part of the tables 
supporting the Final Budget. The purpose of these tables is to show any changes to 
the capital funding allocated to the Investment Areas of the Infrastructure Finance 
Plan (IFP) published in 2021. The allocations made in the IFP were set over multiple 
budget periods, in recognition of the way in which capital funding is spent; taking 
time to develop programmes and projects, procure, implement, and commence 
spend. Ministers have therefore been managing their capital plans within the multi-
year capital funding allocations set out in the IFP.  
 
However, the reality of our current fiscal position is that individual Ministers have had 
to identify capital to swap to revenue and have had to reprofile. The impact of these 
decisions on capital allocations of each Investment Area of the IFP will be set out in 
Annex A. The detailed delivery plans are a matter for individual Ministers. 
 
The latest edition of the Wales Infrastructure Investment Strategy Project Pipeline 
was also published with the Final Budget. The pipeline includes programmes and 
projects, which, if not already started, are included in current plans to potentially start 
over the next three years. The purpose of the pipeline is to share information to 
support private and public sector investment decision making, facilitate strategic 
planning and promote collaboration. 
 
 
 
 
 

Pack Page 9



Recommendation 19. The Committee recommends that the Minister maximises 
capital investments by working with local authorities to develop an enabling 
environment that would allow local government to use their prudential borrowing 
powers to boost capacity within their capital budgets.  
 
Response: Accept  
 
The Welsh Government provides £88m in un-hypothecated supported borrowing 
funding through the Revenue Support Grant (RSG), underpinned by £88m of capital 
budget.   
 
It also provides £12m for the highways improvement local government borrowing 
initiative and £10m for the 21st century schools local government borrowing initiative 
through the RSG  each year.  
 
Funding for the long-term revenue costs of the Coastal Risk Management 
Programme are also transferred into the settlement each year, for the programmes 
agreed.  Local authorities are also supported through specific capital grants, for 
example education and housing.   
 
Policy teams work closely with local authorities to maximise the use of this capital 
funding over any one financial year as profiles and costs change over multi-year 
projects.  Capital borrowing for local authorities is a balance, from within their 
prudential borrowing powers, of maximising investment whilst managing the ongoing 
revenue costs of that investment.  We will continue to work with local authorities to 
get the best out of the capital funding available. 
 
It is also important to recognise our overarching principle remains that we consider 
the cheapest form of finance first and in that regard local authority borrowing remains 
a more expensive option that our own levers. It is also important to be mindful of the 
revenue implications of undertaking borrowing. 
 
Recommendation 20. The Committee recommends that the Minister provides an 
update on whether the Treasury has agreed to the Welsh Government’s request to 
switch funding from capital to revenue and provides information to explain the 
budgetary impact should this request be declined, including details of individual 
projects, policies and initiatives that would be affected.  
 
Response: Accept 
 
The UK Treasury agreed to switch £19m of capital to revenue in 2023-24 in 
https://www.gov.wales/oral-statement-update-2023-24-financial-positionaddition to 
those that flow as Barnett adjustments from switches agreed for UK Government 
Departments – a total switch of £35m.  This fell significantly short of the request to 
switch up to £200m. The late notification of additional revenue consequentials of 
£231m in the supplementary estimates mitigated the impact on the revenue budget, 
preventing any additional impact on delivery beyond those set out in the Minister for 
Finance and Local Government’s update on the in-year financial position on 17 
October 2023. 
 

Pack Page 10

https://www.gov.wales/oral-statement-update-2023-24-financial-position


The subsequent release of capital budget held for the switch was used to fund some 
additional capital allocations and to carry forward in the Wales Reserve for use in 
future years.  These are set out in the 2023-24 second supplementary budget 
published on 20 February.  
 
Recommendation 21. The Committee recommends that the Minister includes 
decisions and documentation relating to general and financial transactions capital 
allocations as part of the Draft Budget documentation in future years to ensure there 
is an opportunity to scrutinise plans as part of draft budget scrutiny process. 
 
Response: Accept 
 
We recognise the Senedd would like to see all Financial Transactions capital 
allocations provided at Draft Budget, and indeed that would be our preference, 
however the lateness of the UK Government’s Autumn Statement coupled with the 
complexity of these mechanisms often requires additional due diligence before we 
can announce funding.  
 
Welsh Government Spending Priorities 
 
Recommendation 22. The Committee recommends that the Minister provides 
further information to explain how the Draft Budget protects core frontline services 
funded and delivered by local authorities, particularly in terms of social care and 
education.  
 
Response: Accept 
 
Welsh Government protected the forecast 3.1% increase in the 2024-25 local 
government settlement as part of the budget providing local authorities with certainty 
against their planning figures.  As most local authority expenditure is on social care 
and education services, maintaining funding through the hypothecated revenue 
settlement protects the core frontline services we prioritised in our Budget.  We have 
also protected the majority of specific grant funding to local authorities.   
 
The Minster for Finance and Local Government recently announced £25m to be 
included in the Final Budget from anticipated consequential funding.  £14.4m will be 
directed to the local government settlement to support pressures locally, including 
social care and teachers pay.  The remainder will be used to reinstate the social care 
workforce grant to £45m. 
 
Work to reduce the administrative burden on grants has also contributed to 
protecting frontline services.  Education grants have been rationalised into four large 
streams, with more flexibility for local authorities to meet local need.  The monitoring 
arrangements will also be rationalised. 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Pack Page 11



Recommendation 23. The Committee recommends that the Minister: 
  

▪  publishes information on the outcomes it expects to be delivered by NHS 
organisations with the additional funding allocated for 2024-25 and future 
years, so they can be scrutinised alongside funding allocations.  

▪  conducts an assessment of the outcomes for NHS Wales, to ensure that 
they are quantifiable and can be monitored effectively.  

▪  publishes each year the allocations to Local Health Boards, together with 
any other documentation issued by the Welsh Government such as 
operational planning guidance, at the same time as it is shared with the 
sector 

 
Response: Accept in Principle 
 
The Minister for Health and Social Services set out her expectations of Health 
Boards and NHS trusts via the NHS Planning Framework for 2024-27. It is for NHS 
organisations to develop their plans in line with the requirements of the Planning 
Framework, based on the needs of their local population, and within the resources 
made available to them. The NHS Planning Framework was issued on 18 December 
2023.  Health Boards are expected to submit their board approved plans by the end 
of March 2024. Once received, a robust assessment of those plans will be 
undertaken to ensure their plans meet the requirements set out in the Planning 
Framework. Following a decision on the status of these plans, the Minister for Health 
and Social Services will issue an update via a written statement. 
 
There are already extensive performance and monitoring arrangements already in 
place with the NHS in Wales to monitor performance and financial delivery. It is also 
worth recognising that the bulk of the additional funding provided to the NHS in 
2024-25 is intended to support and maintain core services with funding to mitigate 
the impacts of inflationary pressures, unavoidable demand, increasing costs of pay 
and energy. 
 
The annual Health Board allocation letter is normally issued to the NHS around the 
20 or 21 December each year, which is the earliest possible timeframe following 
publicationof the Welsh Government Draft Budget. It is issued via a Welsh Health 
Circular (WHC) which is then subsequently published on the Welsh Government 
website. There can be a timing delay of a few weeks between these events. The 
Minister for Health and Social Services would be happy to provide the Committee 
with an email copy of the Welsh Health Circular on the day that it is issued. 
 
In terms of planning guidance, the NHS planning framework was published on an 
annual basis prior to the Integrated Medium Term Planning process pausing as part 
of our response to the Covid-19 pandemic. After restarting the Integrating Medium 
Term Planning process last year and given the complex planning environment - 
which involves Covid recovery and significant financial challenges - the Framework 
is now issued via a Ministerial letter, which streamlined the planning process and 
provided clearer priorities. We do, however, welcome the Committee’s request for 
this to be published once it has issued to NHS Wales, and are willing to do so in the 
future.  
 

Pack Page 12



Recommendation 24. The Committee recommends that the Minister provides 
further information on the outputs the Welsh Government expects frontline social 
care and educational services to deliver for the funding provided, and how it will 
monitor the impacts of its funding decisions on services more widely.  
 
Response: Accept 
 
The expectations of local authority social services departments are defined within the 
Regulations and Codes of Practice for the Social Services and Wellbeing (2014) Act. 
The delivery of social services by local authorities is monitored by the Welsh 
Government through the Performance and Activity data collections and Local 
Authority Social Services Annual Reports.  
 
The data collection provides objective measures on the delivery of services by local 
authorities and covers both adults and children’s services. Through this data 
collection, the Welsh Government can monitor the impact of any funding decisions 
on the provision of social care by tracking activity and performance by local 
authorities.  
The Local Authority Social Services Annual Reports then add to this data collection 
by asking local authorities to clearly set out what they have delivered in the year. 
Local authorities are expected to self-assess themselves against eight quality 
standards and provide evidence to support their findings.  
 
Care Inspectorate Wales (CIW) continue to play a substantial role in monitoring the 
delivery of social care through their regular inspections of social care providers and 
local authorities. CIW will apply independent scrutiny of the performance of local 
authorities, which is informed by the data collected by the Welsh Government and 
the Local Authority Social Services Annual Reports,to hold local authorities to 
account for their delivery.  
 
On Educational services, statutory services local authorities must provide are set out 
in legislation. Local authorities have statutory responsibility for monitoring their schools 
and intervening where appropriate. Estyn inspection remains a fundamental part of 
the national accountability system but should also play a major role in driving and 
directing improvements.   
 
For the new Local Authority Education Grant (LAEG), we will be monitoring 
outcomes of our programmes through newly developed grant terms and conditions. 
We have streamlined the monitoring requirements of our pre-16 education 
programmes, in line with the Welsh Government’s objective to reduce the 
administrative burden on local authorities, and parallel to the workstream for 
reducing workload and bureaucracy in our schools across Wales. 
 
Our terms and conditions require reporting against high-level outcomes set out in 
each of the four elements of the new LAEG - School Standards, Equity, Reform and 
Cymraeg 2050. We will use this information to help us monitor outcomes for children 
across our funded programmes.  
 
 
 

Pack Page 13



Recommendation 25. The Committee recommends that the Minister provides 
further information about the funding provided in 2023-24, including the in-year 
allocations, to address Covid-19 pressures on NHS services and how these have 
been determined, as well as confirm the support provided for that purpose in the 
Draft Budget. 
 
Response: Accept in Principle 

The Minister for Finance and Local Government’s oral statement in October 2023 on 
reprioritisation across Welsh Government budgets, detailed allocations of £425m to 
support NHS budgets. A written statement by the Minster for Health and Social 
services outlining our approach on the allocations to Local Health Boards was issued 
on 8 November and can be found at: 
 
Written Statement: LHB Allocations and Target Control Totals (8 November 2023) | 
GOV.WALES 
 

The written statement gives details of the funding that was provided in 2023-24 to 
the NHS to support: 

• £150m to support Health Board underlying positions and the including the 
legacy impact of Covid-19 on the cost base. 

• £186m to support Health Board inflationary pressures, notably prescribing, 
packages of care, and medicines. 

• £8.24m to increase community capacity and support the implementation of 
‘Further Faster’, strengthening our system resilience this winter. 

 
The allocations were made recurrently, in principle, but were conditional on progress 
Health Boards make in delivering the target control totals set out by organisation. 
The statement also confirmed funding for pay awards with pay costs being funded in 
line with existing principles and the other allocations noted above being allocated in 
line with the main allocation formula. 
 
In addition, the following funding was provided on a non-recurrent basis: 

• £75m further additional support for Health Board inflationary pressures, on an 
allocation formula basis. 

• £49m as an indicative allocation to support the costs of energy in 2023/24 
over and above baseline positions. This was provided on an actual cost basis 
by Health Board. 

 
The recurrent allocations outlined here recognised the on-going impact of Covid-19 
on the cost base of NHS organisations and were therefore included in the Draft 
Budget and 2024-25 LHB allocations as appropriate. 
 
In addition to this funding, we continued to fund specific national Covid-19 
programmes during 2023-24, issuing funding to cover actual costs incurred by the 
NHS on vaccination programmes, testing, and PPE. These programmes are again 
funded in the Draft Budget 2024-25, and we have allocated funding for these 
programmes into organisational baselines in order to provide early certainty for the 
coming financial year. 
 

Pack Page 14

https://www.gov.wales/oral-statement-update-2023-24-financial-position
https://www.gov.wales/written-statement-lhb-allocations-and-target-control-totals
https://www.gov.wales/written-statement-lhb-allocations-and-target-control-totals


Recommendation 26. The Committee recommends that the Minister reviews 
Continuing Healthcare, to include consideration of:  
 

▪     the eligibility criteria and how they are being interpreted and applied to 
ensure care is appropriately assessed as health or social care;  

 
▪     how services are being provided and the related costs to assess whether 

they continue to provide value for money for the sectors involved.  
 

Accept in Principle 
 
After a thorough and extended review with key stakeholders in 2021, the Continuing 
NHS Healthcare (CHC) National Framework document has been recently refreshed 
(Apr 2022). The revised Framework sets out the arrangements for the equitable 
delivery of CHC in Wales and includes the criteria to be used in determining 
eligibility.  
 
Following this process, there are no plans to change the core elements of the 
Framework in the short term. However, the further review of CHC will form an 
integral part of wider restructuring of care and support in Wales, for example through 
the implementation plan towards a National Care and Support Service. Stage 1 
includes actions to consider options in relation to CHC following implementation of 
the recently updated Framework along with ongoing developments such as the 
proposed introduction of Direct Payments for CHC. 
 
Additionally, an exercise is currently being taken forward under the NHS Wales Value 
and Sustainability Board, established in August 2023, to look at delivery and costings 
of CHC and whether value for money is being obtained. Through this work, which is 
being done in conjunction with LHBs, a national picture of CHC spend is being 
established which is helping to identify regional and national opportunities to shape 
the market, as well as opportunities to reduce the cost whilst ensuring quality and 
outcomes are protected.  

 
Recommendation 27. The Committee recommends that the Minister provides 
assurances that measures will be taken to ensure the most vulnerable in society are 
protected should charges for services be increased, as is currently being considered 
by the Welsh Government.  
 
Response: Accept 
 
The charging and financial assessment framework introduced under the Social 
Services and Well-being (Wales) Act 2014, are intended to make charging, 
where it occurs, consistent, fair and clearly understood. People who require care 
and support will be entitled to financial support from their local authority in certain 
circumstances based on their financial means and some will be entitled to care 
and support at no charge.  
 
The matter of increasing charges would need to be put to public consultation and 
a comprehensive impact assessment would also need to be 
undertaken.  Ministers would only make decisions after careful consideration of 

Pack Page 15



the consultation findings and assessment of impact. However, local authorities 
must take into account -when deciding whether to charge and in setting the level 
of any charge, contribution or reimbursement they require to be paid or made - 
the principles upon which this framework is based. Local authorities must ensure 
that people are not charged more than it is reasonably practicable for them to 
pay, and must not be charged more than the cost to the authority of providing or 
arranging the care and support they are receiving.  
 
Recommendation 28. The Committee recommends that the Minister explains why 
reductions have been made to the Social Workforce Grant, given the significant 
financial pressures facing social care and its staff, and that this should include the 
Welsh Government’s assessment of the impact of this decision.  
 
Response: Accept 
 
When addressing the financial challenges we faced in the Draft Budget, there were 
no easy decisions. It was necessary to take the difficult decision to reduce the social 
care workforce grant from £45 million to £34.6 million.   
 
Following an allocation of additional funding at Supplementary Estimates, an 
additional £10.6m has been allocated in the Final Budget to restore the social care 
workforce grant to £45m and alleviate pressures on public services. 
 
Recommendation 29. The Committee recommends that the Minister conducts an 
assessment of the recruitment and retention challenges faced by NHS Wales and 
the social care sector and publishes its findings.  
 
Response: Accept 
 
NHS Wales Health Boards and Trusts actively manage their workforce and maintain 
robust workforce plans to reduce the vacancy gap – supported by significant 
investment in training new workforce and ethical international recruitment 
programmes.  
 
The Welsh Government publishes a range of statistics on the NHS workforce, 
including vacancy data.  
 
Social Care Wales continues to lead on the collection of social care workforce data. 
On an annual basis, an in-depth report is provided on the status of the workforce, 
which includes vacancy data. Data on the whole system vacancy rates in social care 
can be difficult to collect as most workers are employed by the independent sector.  
 
The WeCare Wales platform is continuing to develop with the intention of providing 
more detailed and accurate vacancy and recruitment data. During 2024 additional 
data will be made available about the number and types of vacancies in social care. 
We will continue to monitor and act on the data provided by implementing and 
progressing our programmes of work, investment and engagement with stakeholders 
which currently targets supporting a resilient and stable workforce. 
 

Pack Page 16



Recommendation 30. The Committee recommends that the Minister conducts a 
review to understand the impact that the Welsh Government’s funding decisions 
relating to NHS Wales has impacted on social care pressures, given both are 
inextricably linked.  
 
Response: Accept in Principle 

The impact of our funding decisions is set out in detail in both the Strategic 
Integrated Impact Assessment and in the evidence papers to the Senedd 
Committees published as part of the suite of Draft Budget documentation. These 
documents provide the rationale behind the reasons we increased funding for the 
NHS as opposed to allocating funding into the Revenue Support Grant (RSG). We 
recognised that these two areas are inextricably linked through reducing the need for 
hospital care, moving people out of hospital when they are ready to leave, and 
providing the support they need at that time. 
 

As we outlined, we were facing an extremely challenging financial situation in 23-24 
and we had to act mid-year in order to ensure we could manage our overall position. 
There were significant budget savings identified from across HSS central budgets 
which we were able to re-direct and provide further support for front line pressures in 
the NHS. For the 2024-25 budget planning work, we still faced an incredibly tough 
financial situation with new pressures coming down the line and we had to redesign 
our budget. In the HSS MEG we had to repeat the reprioritisation work that we 
undertook in 2023-24 and make some really difficult decisions. This included the 
decision to reduce the social care workforce grant. We knew that any reductions 
would be impactful, but we chose to prioritise other areas currently funded from 
central budgets, like the ‘eliminate profit’ initiative and grants to the third sector that 
support vulnerable people. The vast majority of social care funding is provided under 
the RSG and this was also protected as part of the core local government settlement 
and also uplifted by 3.1%.  
 
Ministers made it clear during scrutiny of the Draft Budget that social care continues 
to be a priority for the Welsh Government and that additional funding would be 
provided if it were to become available. The social care workforce has been, and will 
continue to be, a priority for Welsh Government. Whilst we had to make the difficult 
decision to reduce the workforce grant, Welsh Government has invested significant 
funding to support and develop the social care workforce.  In 2019-20 Welsh 

Government provided £30m to the sector in the form of the workforce grant. This 
was increased to £40m in 2020-21; £50m in 2021-22; £45m in 2022-23; and £45m in 
2023-24.    
 
Following an allocation of additional funding at Supplementary Estimates, we have 
reviewed the impact of these choices and as the funding position has allowed we 
have made available an additional £10.5m in the 2024-25 Final Budget to support 
the social care workforce grant and alleviate pressures on public services. A further 
£14.5m will be allocated to the RSG to help meet wider public service pressures, 
which include pressures in social care. This will restore the grant to £45m which is a 
significant level of funding and well above 2019-20 levels; all will go directly to local 
authorities to support their social care workforce in 2024-25. This remains a 
significant sum for local authorities to utilise in stabilising its workforce.   

Pack Page 17



 
Recommendation 31. The Committee recommends that the Minister provides 
further information on the in-year operation subsidy to Transport for Wales for 2023-
24 and the additional funding for 2024-25, including the outputs it expects from this 
funding, and whether similar additional allocations will need to be provided on an on-
going basis. 
 
Response: Accept 
 
Transport for Wales’s (TfW’s) initial cost estimate received last summer indicated a 
gap with last year’s published indicative budget of approximately £150m. In light of 
the cross-Welsh Government budget challenge, we have worked closely with TfW to 
manage this gap, including a review of both costs and revenues which has resulted 
in a reduction in their budget requirement of £11m. In addition, we expect additional 
revenue from other income next year to increase by around £19m which will include 
a change in the process of allocating and estimating the funding from the UK 
Government to operate, maintain, and renew the CVL infrastructure agreed at the 
time of transfer of the ownership of this infrastructure. The final value of these 
income streams will not be known until the next financial year. However, given the 
uncertainty and the ongoing budget pressure, we continue to work with TfW to 
identify options to further reduce costs and increase revenues over the coming 
months. 
 
Recommendation 32. The Committee recommends that the Minister:  
 

•       provides a timetable for the implementation of the Welsh Benefits Charter;  
•       publishes an action plan to ensure that a consistent package of grants and 

      financial aid schemes are provided, in line with the Charter’s aims.  
 
Response: Accept 
 
The Welsh Benefits Charter was launched on 22 January with the endorsement of all 
twenty-two local authorities, confirming their collective commitment to improving 
access to the financial support made available by the Welsh Government.  
 
An external steering group, comprising experts in the delivery of Welsh benefits and 
supporting people who experience most difficulty when claiming benefits, has been 
established and tasked with turning the Charter commitments into action. 
 
The steering group held its inaugural meeting on 14 February and began its work to 
develop an action plan of all the activities needed to establish a Welsh benefits 
system where benefits, grants, and financial aid schemes are provided in line with 
the Charter’s aims. Given the complexity of the task it is anticipated that there will be 
short and longer-term actions which will be detailed, along with implementation 
timescales, in the action plan. The steering group will also oversee the 
implementation of the action plan and report on progress to the Partnership Council 
for Wales. The steering group aims to produce the action plan by Summer 2024.  
 
We will follow-up data collection on gender. 
 

Pack Page 18



Recommendation 33. In relation to the Discretionary Assistance Fund, the 
Committee recommends that the Minister:  
 

•       publishes information on the number of submitted and successful 
        applications, including a breakdown by gender;  
•       reviews the process of making the payments to ensure gender equality.  

 
Response: Accept in principle 
 
The Discretionary Assistance Fund (DAF) is a demand-led fund open to all 
experiencing crisis, irrespective of gender.  The application method is kept as clear 
and simple as possible to maintain compliance.  As part of the application process 
applicants do have the opportunity to voluntarily input their gender.  Since the option 
is voluntary, the data is not complete and for that reason data on gender has never 
been formally collected or reported on. 
 
Given the nature of the DAF as a crisis fund, targeted at those dealing with really 
difficult situations, there are no plans to make the collection of gender information 
mandatory at this point.  This is in line with maintaining a clear and simple 
application process.   
 
The full range of DAF data currently available is published quarterly by Welsh 
Government on the Stats Wales website.  
 
Therefore, the proposal can be accepted in principle since DAF data is published 
with the caveat that there are no plans to collect gender data. 
 
 
 
 
Recommendation 34. The Committee recommends that the Minister: 
  

• reviews the eligibility thresholds of the Welsh Government Learning Grant; 
• considers increasing the value of the Grant.  

 
Accept in principle: 
 
We recognise that the thresholds and rates paid for Welsh Government Learning 
Grant (WGLG) FE have not increased, and, while there may be benefits to 
commissioning an independent review of the Scheme, we must acknowledge that we 
may be limited in our ability to respond to changes, particularly alongside 
recommendations for our EMA Scheme which is a Programme for Government 
commitment. Consideration of a review of WGLG FE will be given in 2024. 
 
WGLG FE is only one Welsh Government offer to adults aged 19 and over; students 
can also benefit from the Financial Contingency Fund administered by colleges. 
 
WGLG FE is not intended to be a full maintenance product akin to our statutory 
student support, but a contribution towards costs that may be incurred.   
 

Pack Page 19



Recommendation 35. The Committee recommends that the Minister reviews the 
eligibility threshold for receiving free school meals in secondary schools, with a view 
to it being extended to children whose parents receive Universal Credit.  
 
Response: Reject 
 
The Programme for Government already commits us to review the eligibility criteria 
for free school meals, extending entitlement as far as resources allow. In delivering 
this commitment our immediate focus, and the focus of our partners, is on extending 
entitlement through the delivery of universal primary free school meals. As we 
continue rolling out this offer, we are learning valuable lessons that will inform any 
future plans in relation to expanding a free school meal offer further, should budget 
become available.  
 
Current initial estimates identify at least £28m being required to deliver free school 
meals in secondary schools to children whose parents receive universal credit. This 
is before wider infrastructure and administration costs are accounted for. We 
consider this figure an underestimate, and not affordable from within the current 
financial settlement. 
 
Recommendation 36. The Committee recommends that the Minister should review 
the childcare model:  
 

•       to assess its effectiveness and to ensure it enables the full-time  
  employment of parents.  

•       to ensure it provides adequate support for women to access further and 
  higher education.  
 

Response: Accept 
 
Childcare Offer for Wales 
 
The Childcare Offer for Wales has been available across Wales since April 2019, and 
provides 30 hours a week of government-funded early education and childcare for 
eligible working parents of 3- and 4-year-olds for up to 48 weeks a year.   
 
From September 2022 we expanded the Childcare Offer to parents in education and 
training, supporting the commitment made in our Programme for Government.   
 
 
There were 15,922 children taking up the Childcare Offer in December 2023. This 
represents a take-up rate of 60% of estimated eligible children. During the academic 
year 2022-23, we estimate that around 1,140 additional individual parents were 
supported because of the expansion of the Offer to include eligible parents in 
education/training.  
 
Childcare Offer for Wales – Evaluation and Review 
 
Since its launch, the Childcare Offer for Wales has been subject to an annual 
evaluation, engaging with providers and parents, to understand the impact, 

Pack Page 20



demographics, and barriers to using the Childcare Offer. This includes the impact in 
enabling parents to rejoin or remain in the workforce. 
 
The most recent evaluation report was published in March 2023 and found that 75 
per cent of parents reported that the Offer had made it easier for them to undertake 
their work, 37 per cent of parents reported that they would be working fewer hours 
had the Offer not been available to them. Additionally, 10 per cent of parents said 
they would be in a job with fewer career progression opportunities, and a further 10 
per cent said they would not be working at all if the Offer had not been available to 
them.  
  
This evaluation report was unable to consider the impact of the expansion to parents 
in education and training as it was already underway when the changes were 
introduced. However, the next evaluation will begin to determine the impact of this 
work.  
 
In addition to our programme of annual evaluation, we have also undertaken primary 
research on the barriers to accessing the Childcare Offer, and commissioned 
independent research into specific elements of the Childcare Offer, such as the 
Additional Support Grant, which is expected to report in May 2024, to better inform 
policy development and our communications strategy. 
 

We are developing a programme of impact evaluation that will explore longer-term 
impacts of the Offer on parents and children. Research as part of this programme 
will begin later this year. 
 
 
Recommendation 37. The Committee recommends that the Minister provides 
information on the impact that an increase in childcare take-up may have on other 
areas of the budget, and the actions the Minister will take to mitigate those risks.  
 
Response: Accept in Principle 
 
The Childcare Offer is a demand-led programme and support is made available for 
all eligible parents that apply. The allocated budget for 2024-25 was determined by 
assessing the trends in take-up rates since the beginning of the Offer - with average 
take-up rates of the Childcare Offer reflecting around 55% of eligible parents across 
Wales.  
 

The profiled budget for 2024-25 accounts for a potential increase in take-up rates to 
up to 65% of eligible parents, this allows for the Welsh Government to meet all 
existing obligations and continue to promote take-up, encouraging more eligible 
parents to use the support available to them.   
 

The launch of the Childcare Offer for Wales National Digital Service in January 2023 
means that payments for the Offer are now made by the Welsh Government in 
arrears, rather than via local authorities in advance. This allows the Welsh 
Government to undertake more frequent and more accurate monitoring of claims, 

Pack Page 21

https://eur01.safelinks.protection.outlook.com/?url=https%3A%2F%2Fwww.gov.wales%2Fevaluation-childcare-offer-wales-year-5&data=05%7C02%7CAnne.Pound%40gov.wales%7Cdf9d23df6d8448ca234308dc2e04dac2%7Ca2cc36c592804ae78887d06dab89216b%7C0%7C0%7C638435845590525689%7CUnknown%7CTWFpbGZsb3d8eyJWIjoiMC4wLjAwMDAiLCJQIjoiV2luMzIiLCJBTiI6Ik1haWwiLCJXVCI6Mn0%3D%7C0%7C%7C%7C&sdata=TI2fKWDff9GpspRc9uWxt0XVc1TpUezt%2FLM40B02M6A%3D&reserved=0
Parent%20beliefs,%20behaviours%20and%20barriers:%20childcare%20and%20early%20education%20|%20GOV.WALES
Parent%20beliefs,%20behaviours%20and%20barriers:%20childcare%20and%20early%20education%20|%20GOV.WALES


and estimated take-up levels, to better inform forecasting against our demand-led 
budget.  
 

Officials will continue to monitor take-up levels, both parental rates and hours used, 
for the Offer on a monthly basis throughout the year. Should actual take-up exceed 
our published plans, as a Government we are fully committed to making available 
the total funding needed to deliver on the Offer. 
 
Recommendation 38. The Committee recommends that the Minister reviews the 
rollout of the Warm Homes programme to ensure it reaches those in need as soon 
as possible.  
 
Response: Accept 
 
We are on track to launch our new Warm Homes Programme on 1 April. In the 
meantime, the contract for delivering the existing Nest scheme was extended to the 
end of March to provide a smooth transition between the two schemes and ensure 
those in need continued to received support. 
 
Officials are now finalising contract terms for the delivery services, and mobilisation 
activity is taking place in parallel. During the mobilisation period, we will be agreeing 
the communication and engagement strategy with our suppliers to ensure we are 
reaching the right households. We are also establishing links with other 
organisations helping vulnerable and low-income households to facilitate referrals 
into the scheme.   
   
While we aim to maximise the impact of the £30 million of capital allocate to Warm 
Homes, we also recognise the scale of change required to improve the energy 
efficiency of low-income households across Wales. We are working with our 
contractors, local authorities and other partners to ensure the new demand-led 
scheme is complementary to other energy efficiency and fuel poverty schemes, to 
leverage as much funding as possible into Wales from Great Britain wide initiatives 
and ensure support is available to those most in need.  We will be monitoring 
delivery and evaluating outcomes and will publish a progress report annually.   
 
Recommendation 39. The Committee recommends that the Minister reviews the 
allocations provided for the supply and development of affordable housing included 
within the Draft Budget. 
 
Response: Accept in principle 
 
As a government, we have made the decision to protect budgets directly supporting 
social housing at a time when significant pressures are being faced. The 
commitment to social housing has been underpinned with record levels of funding – 
almost £1.2billion capital has been allocated to Social Housing Grant over the first 
four years of this Senedd term.  
 
In the context of the economic and budgetary pressures Wales is facing – none of 
which are of our making – maintaining the funding levels in our 2023-24 budget for 

Pack Page 22



Social Housing Grant and then being able to increase the allocation for 2024-25 
demonstrates our commitment to delivering 20,000 additional social homes for rent. 
 
It is important to note that whilst the Social Housing Grant is the main budget line, 
there are other funding streams that also support the delivery of social housing.  
 
Through the Transactional Accommodation Capital Programme (TACP), funding is 
being provided to social landlords for a wide range of projects to deliver more homes 
at pace. The Leasing Scheme Wales, launched in January 2022, is offering £30m 
over this Senedd term to improve access to longer term affordable housing in the 
private rental sector.  
 
The Land for Housing scheme increases the funding options available to RSLs to 
secure land sites for housing development. The loan scheme enables the purchase 
of land to support housing supply for affordable and/or market homes.  
 
The land portfolio is being utilised to deliver more social and affordable homes 
across Wales, aiming to develop sites with 50% affordable housing. Through our 
Exemplar Housing Development Standards, we are delivering a variety of cross-
government policy objectives on housing developments we are involved in either 
through land disposal, joint ventures or by providing financial support to delivery 
partners.  
 
Exploration is also being given to how Financial Transactions Capital can be used in 
loan format to support RSLs in delivery of more social homes in Wales. £40m has 
been secured and work will be taken forward on how this is best utilised to maximise 
delivery.  
 
We know we cannot solely continue to deliver homes in the traditional way which is 
why innovative housing solutions have been mainstreamed into the Social Housing 
Grant funding programme. The Minister for Climate Change has also encouraged 
RSLs and local authorities to explore alternative housing solutions such as 
community-led housing as a mechanism to meet the needs of their communities.  
 
 
 

Pack Page 23



Mick Antoniw AS/MS 
Y Cwnsler Cyffredinol a Gweinidog y Cyfansoddiad 
Counsel General and Minister for the Constitution  

Bae Caerdydd • Cardiff Bay 
Caerdydd • Cardiff 

CF99 1SN 

Canolfan Cyswllt Cyntaf / First Point of Contact Centre: 
0300 0604400 

Gohebiaeth.Mick.Antoniw@llyw.cymru                
Correspondence.Mick.Antoniw@gov.Wales 

Rydym yn croesawu derbyn gohebiaeth yn Gymraeg.  Byddwn yn ateb gohebiaeth a dderbynnir yn Gymraeg yn Gymraeg ac ni fydd 
gohebu yn Gymraeg yn arwain at oedi.  

We welcome receiving correspondence in Welsh.  Any correspondence received in Welsh will be answered in Welsh and corresponding 
in Welsh will not lead to a delay in responding.   

Peredur Owen Griffiths MS 
Chair 
Finance Committee 

4 March 2024 

Dear Peredur 

Senedd Cymru (Members and Elections) Bill 

Further to my letter of 21 February regarding the Welsh Government’s response to the 
Finance Committee’s recommendations on the financial implications of the Senedd Cymru 
(Members and Elections) Bill, I am writing to provide a further update on the work which has 
been underway with the Senedd Commission ahead of Stage 2 proceedings. 

My officials have been in regular discussion and are working closely with the Senedd 
Commission on the Committee’s recommendations and the updated positions are included 
in the table attached to this letter.  

I am copying this letter to the Llywydd and the Senedd Commissioner with responsibility for 
Budget and Governance. 

Yours sincerely, 

Mick Antoniw AS/MS 
Y Cwnsler Cyffredinol a Gweinidog y Cyfansoddiad 
Counsel General and Minister for the Constitution  

Pwyllgor Cyllid / Finance Committee 
FIN(6)-08-24 PTN 2

Pack Page 25

Agenda Item 2.2

mailto:Gohebiaeth.Mick.Antoniw@llyw.cymru
mailto:Correspondence.Mick.Antoniw@gov.Wales


Pack Page 26



Mick Antoniw AS/MS 
Y Cwnsler Cyffredinol a Gweinidog y Cyfansoddiad 
Counsel General and Minister for the Constitution  

Bae Caerdydd • Cardiff Bay 
Caerdydd • Cardiff 

CF99 1SN 

Canolfan Cyswllt Cyntaf / First Point of Contact Centre: 
0300 0604400 

Gohebiaeth.Mick.Antoniw@llyw.cymru                
Correspondence.Mick.Antoniw@gov.Wales 

Rydym yn croesawu derbyn gohebiaeth yn Gymraeg.  Byddwn yn ateb gohebiaeth a dderbynnir yn Gymraeg yn Gymraeg ac ni fydd gohebu yn Gymraeg yn arwain at oedi. 

We welcome receiving correspondence in Welsh.  Any correspondence received in Welsh will be answered in Welsh and corresponding in Welsh will not lead to a delay in responding.  

Recommendation Updated position 

Recommendation 4. The Committee recommends 
that the Minister, in consultation with the Senedd 
Commission, undertakes further modelling of 
Commission staff costs to include the minimum and 
maximum pay scales to provide a range of costs, and 
for this information to be included in a revised 
Regulatory Impact Assessment............ Page 28 

Senedd Commission officials have confirmed that a revised 
version of Commission staff costs will be provided, including the 
minimum and maximum pay scales. This will be included with the 
revised Regulatory Impact Assessment ahead of Stage 3 
proceedings.  

Recommendation 5. The Committee recommends 
that the Minister, in consultation with the Senedd 
Commission, undertakes modelling work to 
understand the impact of an increase in committees, 
beyond the three additional committees estimated in 
the Regulatory Impact Assessment, on the scrutiny 
benefits arising from the Bill and that this information 
should be included in a revised Regulatory Impact 
Assessment........... Page 28 

In my response to Recommendation 2, I welcomed the opportunity 

to undertake further modelling to quantify the impact of scrutiny 

benefits arising from the Bill. 

However, I also noted that undertaking such an exercise to a 

robust standard will not be compatible with the timescales 

associated with the passage of the Bill through the Senedd. 

Consequently, scrutiny benefits arising from the Bill have not been 

quantified or defined at this stage, meaning the modelling 

recommended by the Finance Committee in Recommendation 5 

cannot be undertaken in a timescale that would allow information to 

be included in a revised Regulatory Impact Assessment. 

P
ack P

age 27

mailto:Gohebiaeth.Mick.Antoniw@llyw.cymru
mailto:Correspondence.Mick.Antoniw@gov.Wales


Recommendation 7. 
The Committee recommends that the Minister, in 
consultation with the Senedd Commission, 
undertakes a review of the current configuration of 
Members’ offices in Tŷ Hywel, to include: • an 
assessment and cost-benefit analysis on the use of 
open-plan working; • and an assessment of the 
energy use. …………... Page 29  

From discussions my officials have held with Senedd Commission 

officials, I understand a response to this recommendation is being 

prepared. 

Recommendation 8. In light of the new electoral 
system which may result in uplifts to Members’ travel, 
residential accommodation and staff costs, the 
Committee recommends that the Minister, in 
consultation with the Senedd Commission, 
reassesses these costs and provides a range rather 
than using the average costs of current Members, 
and for this information to be included in a revised 
Regulatory Impact Assessment. ......... Page 29 

From initial discussions between the Welsh Government and 
Senedd Commission officials it was agreed that Senedd 
Commission officials would consider what further analysis might be 
feasible and proportionate while acknowledging that costs will be 
impacted by operational decisions taken by the Seventh Senedd. 
There is no intention to pre-empt or undermine work to be 
undertaken in the future.  Discussions are continuing and a further 
response to the Committee will be provided in due course.  

Recommendation 9. The Committee recommends 
that the Minister, in consultation with the Senedd 
Commission, updates the cost estimates relating to 
Members in the Regulatory Impact Assessment:  

•  using the financial information from the latest 
available Determination on Members’ Pay and 
Allowances; and  

• includes the additional salary to leaders of a 
political group (not in the government) for each 
Member in their group (up to the maximum 
allowed for in the Determination). Page 29 

A revised version of costs relating to the Determination, using the 
2023-24 Determination, has been developed and shared with the 
Reform Bill Committee. These figures will be included with the 
revised Regulatory Impact Assessment ahead of Stage 3 
proceedings.  

Costs for the additional salary to political group leaders (based on 
the 2022-23 determination to ensure consistency) will be included 
in the revised RIA ahead of Stage 3 proceedings.  

Recommendation 10. The Committee recommends 
that the Minister, in consultation with the Senedd 
Commission, undertakes further work to assess the 
impact that different demographics of newly elected 

From discussions my officials have held with Senedd Commission 
officials, I understand work to explore a response to this 
recommendation is underway. A further update will be provided to 
the Committee in due course. 

P
ack P

age 28



Members will have on the Members’ Pension 
Scheme. ............... Page 29 

Recommendation 11. The Committee recommends 
that the Minister, in consultation with the Senedd 
Commission, provides further clarity on the schedule 
of work that will be undertaken on the Senedd and Tŷ 
Hywel estates, should the Bill not be agreed. ............. 
Page 29 

Were the Bill not to be agreed I, as the Member in charge, would 
no longer have a role in the schedule of work on the Senedd and 
Ty Hywel estates. From discussions my officials have held with 
Senedd Commission officials, I understand a response to this 
recommendation is being prepared. 

Recommendation 14. The Committee recommends 
that the Minister undertakes further work to 
understand the level of volatility in membership from 
one Senedd to the next and associated cost 
implications, including the impact on the Members’ 
Pension Scheme, in light of the move to a four-year 
election cycle. 

From initial discussions between Welsh Government and Senedd 
Commission officials, I understand Senedd Commission officials 
are undertaking further internal discussions and I will update the 
Committee in due course.  

P
ack P

age 29



Mick Antoniw AS/MS 
Y Cwnsler Cyffredinol a Gweinidog y Cyfansoddiad 
Counsel General and Minister for the Constitution  

Bae Caerdydd • Cardiff Bay 
Caerdydd • Cardiff 

CF99 1SN 

Canolfan Cyswllt Cyntaf / First Point of Contact Centre: 
0300 0604400 

Gohebiaeth.Mick.Antoniw@llyw.cymru                
Correspondence.Mick.Antoniw@gov.Wales 

Rydym yn croesawu derbyn gohebiaeth yn Gymraeg.  Byddwn yn ateb gohebiaeth a dderbynnir yn Gymraeg yn Gymraeg ac ni fydd 
gohebu yn Gymraeg yn arwain at oedi.  

We welcome receiving correspondence in Welsh.  Any correspondence received in Welsh will be answered in Welsh and corresponding 
in Welsh will not lead to a delay in responding.   

Eich cyf/Your ref CG/PO/72/2024 
Ein cyf/Our ref CG/PO/72/2024 

Huw Irranca-Davies MS 
Chair 
Legislation, Justice and Constitution Committee 
Senedd Cymru 

 5 March 2024 

Inter-Institutional Relations Agreement: Inter-Ministerial Standing Committee 

Further to my letter of 24 February and in accordance with the inter-institutional relations 
agreement, I can confirm the sixth meeting of the Inter-Ministerial Standing Committee 
(IMSC) has been re-scheduled to take place on 12 March 2024. 

I will be chairing the meeting and the topics for discussion will be unchanged. 

I have copied this letter to the Llywydd, and to the Chairs of the Finance Committee, the 
Economy, Trade and Rural Affairs Committee, the Equality and Social Justice Committee, 
and the Culture, Communications, Welsh Language, Sport, and International Relations 
Committee. 

I will provide an update after the meeting. 

Mick Antoniw AS/MS 
Y Cwnsler Cyffredinol a Gweinidog y Cyfansoddiad 
Counsel General and Minister for the Constitution 

Pwyllgor Cyllid / Finance Committee 
FIN(6)-08-24 PTN 3

Pack Page 30

Agenda Item 2.3

mailto:Gohebiaeth.Mick.Antoniw@llyw.cymru
mailto:Correspondence.Mick.Antoniw@gov.Wales


Rebecca Evans AS/MS 
Y Gweinidog Cyllid a Llywodraeth Leol  
Minister for Finance and Local Government

Bae Caerdydd • Cardiff Bay 
Caerdydd • Cardiff 

CF99 1SN 

Canolfan Cyswllt Cyntaf / First Point of Contact Centre: 
0300 0604400 

Correspondence.Rebecca.Evans@gov.wales 
Gohebiaeth.Rebecca.Evans@llyw.cymru 

Rydym yn croesawu derbyn gohebiaeth yn Gymraeg.  Byddwn yn ateb gohebiaeth a dderbynnir yn Gymraeg yn Gymraeg ac ni fydd 
gohebu yn Gymraeg yn arwain at oedi.  

We welcome receiving correspondence in Welsh.  Any correspondence received in Welsh will be answered in Welsh and corresponding 
in Welsh will not lead to a delay in responding.   

Ein cyf/Our ref: RE/78/2024 

Peredur Owen Griffiths MS 

Chair of the Finance Committee 

Senedd Cymru 

Cardiff Bay 

Cardiff 

CF99 1SN 

SeneddFinance@senedd.wales 

06 March 2024 

Dear Peredur, 

On September 8, 2022, the Welsh Tax Acts etc. (Power to Modify) Act 20221 (‘the Act’) 
received Royal Assent.  The Act provides the Welsh Ministers, subject to Senedd approval, 
with a power to make regulations to make necessary or appropriate changes to address 
four specified circumstances: 

• ensuring that landfill disposals tax or land transaction tax is not imposed where to do
so would be incompatible with any international obligations,

• protecting against tax avoidance in relation to landfill disposals tax or land transaction
tax,

• responding to a change to a predecessor tax that affects, or may affect, the amounts
paid into the Welsh Consolidated Fund under section 118(1) of the Government of
Wales Act 2006, and

• responding to a decision of a court or tribunal that affects, or may affect, the
operation of any of the Welsh Tax Acts or regulations made under any of those Acts.

During the course of Senedd scrutiny2 a number of amendments were introduced to the bill 
to address Committee and Senedd Members’ concerns.  These included: 

• an obligation on the Welsh Ministers to publish a review of the Act (section 6 of the
Act) by 8 September 2026 (four years after Royal Assent), and

• a sunset clause (section 7 of the Act) that comes into effect on 8 September 2027
(subject to the Senedd approving a maximum extension to 30 April 2031).

1 Welsh Tax Acts etc. (Power to Modify) Act 2022 (legislation.gov.uk) 
2 Welsh Tax Acts etc. (Power to Modify) Act 2022 (senedd.wales) 

Pwyllgor Cyllid / Finance Committee 
FIN(6)-08-24 PTN 4

Pack Page 31

Agenda Item 2.4

mailto:Correspondence.Rebecca.Evans@gov.wales
mailto:Gohebiaeth.Rebecca.Evans@llyw.cymru
mailto:SeneddFinance@senedd.wales
https://www.legislation.gov.uk/asc/2022/2/contents
https://business.senedd.wales/mgIssueHistoryHome.aspx?IId=38480


Section 6 further provided that the review must include an assessment by the Welsh 
Ministers of alternative legislative mechanisms for making changes to the Welsh Tax Acts 
and regulations made under any of those Acts. Furthermore, the Welsh Ministers in 
undertaking the review must consult Senedd Cymru and such other persons as they 
consider appropriate.   

In order for the review, including any relevant and appropriate consultation, to be completed 
by the statutory deadline I would like to offer the Committee the opportunity to receive a 
short presentation from my officials. The aim will be to consider the approach to making 
timeous changes to the Welsh Tax Acts etc. and hear suggestions the Committee may have 
as to appropriate alternative legislative mechanisms.   

I am making a similar offer to the Legislation, Justice and Constitution Committee. 

If agreeable, my officials will liaise with the Clerk to make the appropriate arrangements. 

Yours sincerely, 

Rebecca Evans AS/MS 
Y Gweinidog Cyllid a Llywodraeth Leol  
Minister for Finance and Local Government 

Pack Page 32



 
www.senedd.cymru | www.senedd.wales 

 
Cyflwynwyd yr ymateb i ymgynghoriad y Pwyllgor Cyllid ar Cysylltiadau 
Rhynglywodraethol Cyllidol. 

This response was submitted to the Finance Committee consultation on Fiscal 
Intergovernmental Relations. 

 

FIR_01: Ymateb gan: Dr Anderson, Prifysgol John Moores Lerpwl | Response from: Dr 
Anderson, Liverpool John Moores University 

__________________________________________________________________________________________________ 

 

Pack Page 33

Agenda Item 3

https://senedd.cymru/pwyllgorau/y-pwyllgor-cyllid/
https://busnes.senedd.cymru/mgConsultationDisplay.aspx?id=542&RPID=1042406265&cp=yes
https://busnes.senedd.cymru/mgConsultationDisplay.aspx?id=542&RPID=1042406265&cp=yes
https://senedd.cymru/pwyllgor/734
https://business.senedd.wales/mgConsultationDisplay.aspx?id=542&RPID=1042406265&cp=yes
https://business.senedd.wales/mgConsultationDisplay.aspx?id=542&RPID=1042406265&cp=yes


1 
 

Finance Committee, Senedd Cymru  

Call for Evidence: Fiscal Intergovernmental Relations 

Dr Paul Anderson, School of Humanities and Social Science, Liverpool John Moores University  

February 2024 

1. Intergovernmental relations (IGR) are essential in any multi-level state. They serve various 
functions, inter alia, the management of policy overlaps and interdependencies, policy 
coordination and dispute resolution. IGR can take different forms: informal/formal 
bilateral/multilateral, vertical/horizontal and legal/political. In the whole, they tend to take 
place informally, but formal structures are crucial to facilitate regular interaction.  

2. In the UK, little attention was paid to how relations between the UK and devolved 
governments would develop in the aftermath of devolution in the late 1990s, resulting in 
relatively weak and under-developed intergovernmental structures. In the 25 years since the 
inception of the devolved legislatures in Scotland, Wales and Northern Ireland, much has 
changed. In the intergovernmental arena, the original Joint Ministerial Committee (JMC) 
structures have been significantly overhauled and replaced by a three tier structure, 
undergirded by a commitment by all governments across the UK to work constructively in a 
spirit of mutual respect and trust.  

3. Fiscal relations are one of the most important areas vis-à-vis IGR. Not only is this a topic that 
tends to generate most dispute, but particularly in the UK and the nature of devolved finances, 
there is significant interdependence between the UK and devolved governments.  

Finance Interministerial Standing Committee (F:ISC) 

4. The F:ISC is one of the principal forums within the three-tiered IGR structure created in 2022. 
It sits alongside the Interministerial Standing Committee (IMSC) and deals specifically with 
‘the impact of economic and finance matters affecting the UK’. 

5. Since its establishment, it has met six times (March 2022; June 2022; February 2023; June 
2023; September 2023; January 2024) with meetings taking place in Cardiff, Edinburgh and 
London and chaired by the respective governments in these locations.  

6. Notably, there is a 7 month gap between 2022-23 where no meeting took place. This is 
perhaps explained by the political turmoil the UK Government found itself in during this 
period. The F:ISC was not unique in this sense; several other IGR forums failed to meet during 
this period. Disappointingly, despite regular interaction in other forums, the Council, the top-
tier forum to bring together the Prime Minister and First Ministers has not met since 
November 2022, despite its terms of reference requiring one meeting per year.  

7. The terms of reference for the F:ISC note that the forum will typically meet once per quarter 
(though this could be more or less frequent). Beyond the gap noted above, there has been 
regular meetings. In this regard, the F:ISC can be considered somewhat effective. Regular 
interaction is a key element to build effective and successful IGR, normalising interaction, 
enhancing networks and crucially, building and maintaining trust between officials. Further, 
particularly in the context of fiscal policy, regular interaction should make the people involved 
much more aware of the interdependencies between governments, underlining the 
importance of coordination, cooperation and good communication.  

8. Like other IGR structures, such as the IMSC and Interministerial groups, a significant strength 
of the F:ISC is the rotating chairs and locations of meetings. While a fairly small element, this 
makes intergovernmental interaction less hierarchical (a common criticism of the JMC 

Pack Page 34



2 
 

structures). In the six meetings that have taken place so far, two have been in Cardiff, two in 
Edinburgh and two in London.i Through the Secretariat, any government can submit an 
agenda item to be discussed at each meeting. This places the governments on a fairly equal 
footing and ensures an equal stake in building constructive relations and making IGR work.  

9. In general, the F:ISC seems to be working well with no evidence of disquiet from government 
ministers. That said, as the committee is well aware, there is an issue around communication 
on the part of the UK Government as relates to budgets and fiscal announcements. Using the 
F:ISC as a principal (confidential) forum ahead of key events to discuss upcoming 
announcements with the devolved governments would seem a sensible solution. The absence 
of this engagement probably speaks to an undercurrent of mistrust by UK Government 
departments regarding interaction with the devolved institutions, as well as, a lack of 
knowledge about how devolution works.  

10. A notable weakness of IGR in the UK relates to the lack of intergovernmental political culture 
found in other decentralised and federal states. Coordination and cooperation between 
governments tends to be the exception rather than the rule. In this regard, it is often pointed 
out that personalities and the mindsets of the people involved matter. For IGR to work 
effectively, there needs to be a willingness by participants to work together in a constructive 
manner, undergirded by a sense of parity of esteem. The terms of reference for the F:ISC are 
quite revealing in this regard, specifically the repeated references to the ‘devolved 
administrations’ rather than ‘devolved governments’ which is the case in the rest of the 
Review. ‘Devolved administrations’, sometimes abbreviated to ‘DAs’ is typical Whitehall 
language that tends to reinforce a hierarchy in UK governance structures with one (UK) 
Government and the rest mere administrations. This hints, therefore, at the continued 
dominance of the Treasury over the devolved governments in fiscal IGR. This is unhelpful and 
undermines the message of cooperation the Review seeks to emphasise. As a colleague and I 
have argued elsewhere, the experience of countries like Australia, Canada and Spain where 
IGR ‘tend to be used to advance the central government’s agenda rather than generating a 
true spirit of cooperation’ show that having central government departments preside over 
IGR forums is a bad idea.ii  

Scrutiny 

11. Parliamentary scrutiny of IGR is undoubtedly an important element in holding government to 
account. In most states, however, parliaments often have a limited role; IGR tend to be 
executive-dominated. The Review of Intergovernmental Relations offered very little with 
regard to parliamentary scrutiny, with no reference to concrete measures to facilitate 
parliamentary oversight. Below I offer a few suggestions on how scrutiny could be enhanced.  

12. First, I would encourage committees to conduct inquiries into IGR on a more regular basis. 
Akin to my point above about regular interaction fostering trust between different 
governments, more regular IGR evidence gathering sessions by committees would underline 
the importance of IGR taking place but also reporting these outcomes in a transparent way. 
In this vein, it would make sense to hold hearings with ministers before/after each F:ISC 
meeting to discuss in detail the substance of intergovernmental interaction and potential 
topics to be raised.  

13. I would also encourage the committee to invite more people to give evidence on 
intergovernmental topics. I am well aware that getting ministers to appear at committees is a 
difficult and onerous task, and an issue shared across the different parliaments.iii I do, 
however, think it imperative that UK Government ministers engage with parliamentary 
committees in the devolved legislatures. I am unsure whether there is merit in seeking to 

Pack Page 35



3 
 

pursue this in terms of a statutory basis, but I think a good start would be some form of 
agreement between the different governments and parliaments that ministers will find time 
in their diaries to enagge with parliamentary committees in the devolved parliaments.  

14. In addition, it might also be worth exploring the possibility of meeting with ministers in private 
hearings. While it is certainly logical that UK Government ministers should engage with 
finance committees in the devolved parliaments prior to important fiscal events, such 
interaction can be easily dismissed on the grounds of confidentiality. This may also be 
coloured by party politics. Private meetings might allay some of these concerns, but on topics 
where the subject matter is (politically) sensitive, finding the correct balance between scrutiny 
and confidentiality is no easy task.  

15. Beyond evidence sessions, publications, such as minutes and communiques published after 
meetings are an important tool of transparency. In light of the Review, intergovernmental 
forums have become much better at publishing fairly detailed communiques. I am pleased to 
see the Finance Committee receives rather detailed updates from the relevant minister after 
F:ISC meetings. This is certainly an example of good practice. If possible, it may also be useful 
for the Committee to seek access to the detailed minutes of these meetings, which do not 
seem to be publicly available, and as noted above, these could be discussed in a private 
meeting with the relevant ministers should any queries arise.  

16. The horizontal interaction in the form of the Interparliamentary Finance Committee Forum is 
also an example of good practice. Horizontal relations are rather strong in federal states like 
Canada and Switzerland, but underexplored in the UK. I would encourage the Committee to 
continue its engagement with this forum and seek to enhance opportunities for joint work 
between the various committees in the devolved legislatures. Indeed, there may be merit in 
pursuing opportunities for the Interparliamentary Finance Committee Forum to also work 
with committees in the UK Parliament to hold government to account more effectively. 
Indeed, joint committee hearings could be held with UK Government ministers, freeing up 
time for such ministers to attend one joint meeting between the various committees rather 
than several separate meetings.  

17. Finally, parliamentary scrutiny of IGR would be enhanced via the establishment of a dedicated 
committee to examine IGR. I believe other committees would still be able to explore specific 
areas relevant to their remits, but a dedicated committee would certainly increase scrutiny.  

Dispute Resolution  

18. The reform of the dispute resolution procedure in the Review of Intergovernmental Relations 
was a welcome development. It addressed previous criticism of the JMC structures whereby 
the UK Government served as both judge and jury in addressing disputes, even in cases where 
it was party to a dispute. This is no longer the case, and the dispute resolution mechanism is 
more formalised, managed by the Secretariat.  

19. Notably, the F:ISC has its own dispute procedure. While this follows much of the same process 
as other disputes, grounds for raising a dispute in the F:ISC are more restricted. The Forum’s 
terms of reference state ‘all parties acknowledge that policy decisions on funding are strictly 
reserved to Treasury ministers, with engagement with the devolved administrations as 
appropriate. As outlined in the Statement of Funding Policy, funding disputes may only be 
raised where there is reason to believe a principle of the Statement of Funding Policy may 
have been breached.’. In essence, and much like previous JMC structures, the UK 
Government/Treasury remains the dominant partner.  

20. The limited grounds for raising a dispute hint at the overbearing role the Treasury has in fiscal 
IGR. To ensure more collegial and cooperative IGR this will require greater effort on the part 

Pack Page 36



4 
 

of the Treasury to meaningfully engage with the devolved governments prior to, for example, 
changes to the Statement of Funding Policy. 

21. To date, only the Northern Irish Executive has raised a dispute with the Treasury. There has 
been no published outcome and it was reported in the House of Lords in January 2024 that in 
light of the Executive being in abeyance the dispute was ‘on pause’. iv Now the Executive is 
back up and running, more details on this are likely to be forthcoming.  

22. The new procedure is certainly an improvement on the previous structure, but hitherto it 
remains untested. Whether the new mechanism is ‘fit for purpose’ remains to be seen. 

Final Remarks 

23. The reform to IGR structures since January 2022 are certainly a significant move forward in 
enhancing the effectiveness of intergovernmental interaction in the UK. Sensibly, the new 
structures are less hierarchical and the commitment to more regular interaction is a welcome 
development to facilitate more constructive intergovernmental engagement.  

24. One of the main challenges to more meaningful IGR in the UK relates to political culture. 
Despite 25 years of devolution, very little has changed in Westminster and Whitehall where a 
unitary attitude often prevails (evident in recent years in the repeated disregard for the Sewel 
Convention and muscular unionism strategy). A political culture, predicated on important 
principles and values such as, mutual respect, partnership, recognition and trust is often 
lacking.  

25. The Review set out agreed principles by the governments across the UK. While the UK is not 
a federation, what is requires is a more federal political culture in which IGR are based on 
parity of esteem and meetings/negotiations are conducted in a spirit of cooperation and 
compromise. Institutions, structures, and processes matter, but so too does willingness to 
want to make them work. 

26. There are evident issues around communication on the part of the UK Treasury vis-à-vis fiscal 
announcements. This is, in part, informed by the unitary political culture that characterises 
Whitehall engagement with the devovled institutions. I think it sensible for the committee to 
explore the extent to which the F:ISC can facilitate and enhance communication prior to fiscal 
events.  

27. Finally, as I noted earlier, there is merit in strengthening horizontal cooperation among the 
various devovled parliaments. Interparliamentary Relations (IPR) can serve as an important 
avenue to further enhance relations between the different constituent units of a state. 
Further, in using IPR as a tool of scrutiny, the transparency of IGR can be enhanced. This is 
certainly an area in the UK that deserves much more attention, particularly given the 
executive dominated nature of IGR. In the absence of a territorially representative second 
chamber, which in many federal systems serves as an intergovernmental chamber, the various 
committees in the respective legislatures in Westminster, Holyrood, Cardiff and Belfast should 
play a more active role in scrutinising IGR. Enhancing IPR and building further links between 
committees and the legislatures would be a welcome development, facilitating opportunities 
for knowledge exchange, the sharing of best practice and giving voice to parliamentary issues.  

 

 
i The first meeting in March 2022 was chaired by the UK Government, though I am unsure if it took place in 
London or online.  

Pack Page 37



5 
 

 
ii Paul Anderson and Johanna Schnabel. 2022. ‘Review of intergovernmental relations: the new interministerial 
structures are a step in the right direction’, LSE British Politics and Policy. 
https://blogs.lse.ac.uk/politicsandpolicy/intergovernmental-relations-review/  
iii See,  https://committees.parliament.uk/publications/34108/documents/187687/default/  
iv Baroness Penn, Intergovernmental Relations within the United Kingdom. HL Deb, Vol. 835, Col, 563. 
https://hansard.parliament.uk/Lords/2024-01-18/debates/EC6CEB7C-0864-4233-A71C-
4B85E0D730C6/IntergovernmentalRelationsWithinTheUnitedKingdom?highlight=dispute%20pause#contributi
on-1A7D1AA4-2D82-4126-A559-50FFFE35B02F  

Pack Page 38

https://blogs.lse.ac.uk/politicsandpolicy/intergovernmental-relations-review/
https://committees.parliament.uk/publications/34108/documents/187687/default/
https://hansard.parliament.uk/Lords/2024-01-18/debates/EC6CEB7C-0864-4233-A71C-4B85E0D730C6/IntergovernmentalRelationsWithinTheUnitedKingdom?highlight=dispute%20pause#contribution-1A7D1AA4-2D82-4126-A559-50FFFE35B02F
https://hansard.parliament.uk/Lords/2024-01-18/debates/EC6CEB7C-0864-4233-A71C-4B85E0D730C6/IntergovernmentalRelationsWithinTheUnitedKingdom?highlight=dispute%20pause#contribution-1A7D1AA4-2D82-4126-A559-50FFFE35B02F
https://hansard.parliament.uk/Lords/2024-01-18/debates/EC6CEB7C-0864-4233-A71C-4B85E0D730C6/IntergovernmentalRelationsWithinTheUnitedKingdom?highlight=dispute%20pause#contribution-1A7D1AA4-2D82-4126-A559-50FFFE35B02F


Document is Restricted

Pack Page 39

By virtue of paragraph(s) ix of Standing Order 17.42



Document is Restricted

Pack Page 52

Agenda Item 6 By virtue of paragraph(s) vi of Standing Order 17.42



Document is Restricted

Pack Page 76

Agenda Item 8 By virtue of paragraph(s) ix of Standing Order 17.42



Document is Restricted

Pack Page 86

Agenda Item 9 By virtue of paragraph(s) ix of Standing Order 17.42


	Agenda
	2.1 PTN 1 - Scrutiny of the Welsh Government Draft Budget 2024-25: Welsh Government's response to the Finance Committee's report - 1 March 2024
	MA-RE-0674-24 - Letter to chair of the Finance Committee (E)
	03 - Formal responses to FC's recommendations on the Draft Budget (E)

	2.2 PTN 2 - Letter from the Counsel General and Minister for the Constitution: Senedd Cymru (Members and Elections) Bill - 4 March 2024
	2.3 PTN 3 - Letter from Counsel General and Minister for the Constitution: Inter-Institutional Relations Agreement - Inter-Ministerial Standing Committee - 5 March 2024
	2.4 PTN 4 - Letter from the Minister for Finance and Local Government: Welsh Tax Acts etc. (Power to Modify) Act 2022 - 6 March 2024
	3 Fiscal Intergovernmental Relations: Evidence session 1
	response cover sheet template
	Anderson_FinanceCommittee_FiscalIGR
	Senedd Research Brief

	6 Financial implications of the Residential Outdoor Education (Wales) Bill: Consideration of draft report
	8 Consideration of Forward Work Programme
	9 Scrutiny of the Welsh Government Draft Budget 2025-26: Approach to engagement



